### **RECEIVED**

01-13-2016

### CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2015AP1969-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SANDRA D. NOREN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Walworth County Circuit Court, the Honorable David M. Reddy, Presiding

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MICHELLE L. VELASQUEZ Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079355

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4300 E-mail: velasquezm@opd.wi.gov

### **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

When police officers respond to a medical emergency, and have been made aware of the likely cause of the person's condition, does a search of a closed wardrobe and purse contained therein exceed the scope of the emergency rule exception to the warrant requirement?

The circuit court answered no. It determined that a reasonable person under the circumstances would have thought that an emergency still existed and that "a reasonable person would search in an area that would provide them a better answer as to why the person is blue in the face". (23:43; App. 146).

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This case requires the application of well-established legal and constitutional principles to the particular facts of the case. Neither oral argument nor publication is warranted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state filed an information charging Ms. Noren with one count of possession of narcotic drugs, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(3g)(am), and one count of possession of drug paraphernalia, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.573(1). (4).

Ms. Noren filed a motion to suppress the evidence on the grounds the officer's search of a wardrobe in her bedroom and its contents exceeded the scope of what is permitted under the circumstances. (7:1-8). At the motion hearing, Officers Spotz and Nettesheim testified for the state. (23:3-31; App. 107-134).

Officers responded to a residence in Lake Geneva after a possible drug overdose was reported. (23:4; App. 107). When Officer Spotz arrived, Officer Nettesheim and Sergeant Derrick were already on the scene attending to Ms. Noren, who was lying on her back in the kitchen. (23:4-5; App. 107-108). While the other officers attended to her, Officer Spotz spoke to Ms. Noren's nephew, Mr. Harris, who resided with her. (23:5; App. 108). Mr. Harris told the police that he had gone to bed around 10 p.m., but that he had woken up a couple of hours later. (23:5; App. 108). When he woke up, he saw Ms. Noren and she "appeared normal". (23:5; App. 108). About ten minutes later, Mr. Harris turned away from watching television and saw Ms. Noren lying on the kitchen floor. (23:5; App. 108). He told the police that her face was turning blue and that she was unresponsive, so he called 9-1-1. (23:5-6; App. 108-109).

Mr. Harris relayed to the police that he knew his aunt to be a heroin user, that he had, in the past, seen her use heroin, and that a few weeks earlier she had overdosed. (23:6; App. 109). Mr. Harris also told Officer Spotz that Ms. Noren was on medication for anxiety. (23:6; App. 109).

Officer Spotz testified that approximately ten to fifteen minutes after officers had arrived on scene, the emergency medical service unit (EMS) arrived and began attending to Ms. Noren. (23:7; App. 110). Officer Spotz testified that either he or one of the other officers notified the paramedics that Ms. Noren may have been suffering from a heroin overdose. (23:10; App. 113). Once EMS arrived, Officer Nettesheim began searching the apartment for contraband. (23:11; App. 114).

Officer Nettesheim testified that when he arrived Mr. Harris let him into the apartment and directed him to Ms. Noren. (23:14; App. 117). At that time he was made aware that she may have overdosed on heroin. (23:28; App. 131). Before EMS arrived, Officer Nettesheim applied oxygen and rolled Ms. Noren onto her side. (23:15; App. 118). In addition to Mr. Harris telling him that it was likely a heroin overdose, Officer Nettesheim had previously responded to an overdose involving Ms. Noren. (23:16; App. 119). In that incident, the pills that Ms. Noren had consumed were found next to her in plain view. (23:18; App. 121).

In this case, the officer did not observe anything on the kitchen floor in the area immediate to where Ms. Noren was lying. (23:18-19; App. 121-122). When EMS arrived, Officer Nettesheim "conducted a search to find out the reason for the possible overdose." (23:15; App. 118). He went into Ms. Noren's bedroom and first searched around her bed and inside her nightstand. (23:30; App. 133). When Officer Nettesheim did not find anything around the bed or in the nightstand he opened her wardrobe. (23:30; App. 133). Inside the wardrobe he located Ms. Noren's purse, opened it, and searched its contents, finding a pill bottle with a brown substance he believed to be heroin, and unidentified pills. (23:20; App. 123). Officer Nettesheim continued to search the wardrobe and found another bag containing additional prescription bottles, loose pills, and straws that he believed were used to ingest heroin. (23:20-21; App. 123-124).

Officer Nettesheim testified that it usually takes a few minutes for EMS to stabilize the individual inside of the ambulance, (23:29; App. 132), and that when he found the suspected heroin and pills he went to the ambulance to pass the information to the EMS. (23:17; App. 120). However, Officer Nettesheim was not able to confirm what the brown

substance and pills that he found were until he took them back to the police station for testing and identification. (23:24; App. 127). Officer Nettesheim testified that he did not recall any specific instances during a suspected overdose when EMS has requested that he search the area to look for the source of the overdose. (23:27; App. 130).

After the close of testimony, the circuit court took a break to read the briefs submitted in a different, but analogous case in Walworth County. (23:32; App. 135). The circuit court concluded the briefs in that matter should be incorporated into the present case because of the similarity in fact and law. (23:33; App. 136).

The circuit court concluded that the "emergency doctrine established under <u>Prober[]</u>" was the correct legal standard under which to analyze the facts in this case. (20:36; App. 139). The circuit court found both of the officers' testimony credible, and without objection from the defense, it found that Officer Nettesheim's search was motivated by his perception that he needed to do so in order to render aid to Ms. Noren. (23:38-39; App. 141-142).

The circuit court then concluded that the search of the wardrobe and purse was reasonable because "a reasonable person would search in the area that would provide them an answer as to why this person is blue faced, lying on the kitchen floor." (23:43; App. 146). In coming to this conclusion, the circuit court noted that the officer has been told that providing information about the substance consumed is helpful to EMS and other medical personnel. (23:43; App. 146). The circuit court also noted that it was reasonable to believe that there were additional drugs present. (23:43; App. 146).

In relation to the scope of the search, the circuit court found that it was limited to the emergency because the officer only searched the bedroom, where it would be reasonable to believe drugs would be kept. (23:44; App. 147). Accordingly, based on its findings of reasonableness and a limited scope, the circuit court denied the motion to suppress the evidence. (23:44; App. 147).

Following the court's denial of her suppression motion, Ms. Noren pled guilty to one count of possession of narcotic drugs as charged in the information. (13:1). The circuit court withheld the sentence and placed Ms. Noren on probation for a period of three years, with imposed and stayed conditional time. (14:1; App. 101).

This appeal follows.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. The Emergency Doctrine Did Not Justify The Search of Ms. Noren's Wardrobe and Purse Because The Officer Was Aware of the Likely Cause of the Overdose, And The Items Searched Were Not In Proximity to the Emergency.
  - A. Introduction and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects the rights of citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. The Wisconsin Constitution contains a substantively identical provision, art. I, sec. 11, and is interpreted consistently with the Fourth Amendment. State v. Richter, 2000 WI 58, ¶ 27, 235 Wis. 2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29. "Warrantless searches 'are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions." State v. Prober, 98 Wis. 2d 345, 351, 297 N.W.2d 1 (1980). (overruled not on the emergency doctrine, but on whether an inventory search justified the search); citing Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). The exceptions to the warrant requirement are "carefully and jealously drawn." Prober, 98 Wis. 2d at 351; citing Jones v. United States, 357 U.S. 493, 499 (1958).

One such exception to the warrant requirement is the emergency doctrine. *State v. Pires*, 55 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 201 N.W.2d 153 (1972). In that case, the Wisconsin Supreme Court approved an "emergency doctrine" exception that allows officers to make warrantless entries and searches when there is a reasonable belief that a person is in need of aid. *Id*. The emergency doctrine is a two-step test, and both parts must be met in order for the emergency doctrine to justify a warrantless entry or search. *Prober*, 98 Wis. 2d at 365. The first step is a subjective test, which requires that the officer searching actually be motivated by a perceived need to render assistance. *Id*. The second step is an objective test, which requires that a "reasonable person under the circumstances would have thought an emergency existed[.]" *Id*.

Here, the circuit court found that Officer Nettesheim's search was motivated by his perception that Ms. Noren was in need of aid. (23:38-39; App. 141-142). Ms. Noren does not challenge the circuit court's findings regarding Officer Nettesheim's motivation. Ms. Noren agrees that Officer Nettesheim's perception that she needed assistance motivated his search, however, she disputes the circuit court's ruling that the scope of the search was reasonable. Therefore, the issue in this case is confined to the circuit court's findings and conclusions regarding the objective test portion of the emergency doctrine.

When reviewing a circuit court's denial of a suppression motion, this court upholds a circuit court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Larsen*, 2007 WI App 147, ¶ 14, 302 Wis. 2d 718, 736 N.W. 2d 211. Whether or not the facts satisfy the constitutional requirements is a question of law that this court reviews de novo. *Id*.

#### B. Applicable legal principles.

Motivation to render aid in an emergency situation does not give law enforcement license to conduct broad, limitless searches. *Pires* 55 Wis. 2d at 606. The Wisconsin Supreme Court cautioned that the "emergency doctrine must be strictly construed so as to keep the warrantless intrusion as limited as possible." *Prober*, 98 Wis. 2d at 362; *citing Pires*, 55, Wis. 2d at 606; *LaFournier v. State*, 91 Wis.2d 61, 68, 280 N.W.2d 746 (1979). Adherence to the Court's mandate that the doctrine be strictly construed requires that there be a direct relationship between the area to be searched and the emergency itself. *Prober*, 98 Wis. 2d at 362; *citing People v. Mitchell*, 39 N.Y.2d 173, 179, 347 N.E.2d 607 (1976).

As in other Fourth Amendment cases. the determination as to whether the objective test of the emergency doctrine has been met turns on the reasonableness of police actions. It is the need to assist that supplies reasonableness, not the need to gather evidence. Pires, 55 Wis. 2d at 604. The reasonableness of police action is determined by whether under the totality of the circumstances a reasonable person would have believed that (1) there was an immediate need to provide aid or assistance to a person due to actual or threatened physical injury; and (2) that immediate entry into an area in which a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy was necessary in order to provide that aid or assistance. *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 449, 452, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983).

- C. The officer's search of Ms. Noren's wardrobe and purse exceeded the scope of the limited search that the emergency doctrine permits because the officer was already aware of the likely source of her medical situation and the searched location was not in proximity to her person.
  - 1. Officer Nettesheim's entry into the bedroom was unreasonable because there was not an immediate need to provide assistance.

There is no dispute that a drug overdose presents an emergency situation sufficient to justify police entry. *LaFournier*, 280 Wis. 2d at 68. Likewise, in this case there is no dispute that the officers' entry into Ms. Noren's apartment was lawful, as her nephew, with whom she lived, called 9-1-1 and allowed them to enter. (23:14). However, while an overdose situation may also justify a search, it will not justify a broad search. *Prober*, 98 Wis. 2d at 362 (internal citation omitted). (Where the search is limited to an area directly related to the emergency).

Here, the circuit court found that the entry into Ms. Noren's bedroom was reasonable because doing so "was necessary to abate the emergency." (23:43; App. 146). The entry into Ms. Noren's bedroom, however, was not objectively necessary to end the emergency because EMS was already on the scene and attending to her. (23: 7, 15; App. 110, 118).

Officer Nettesheim's entry into the bedroom in this case is analogous to the second entry into the home in *Pires*, 55 Wis. 2d 597, where the Court held that a subsequent entry and search was unreasonable. There, the police lawfully entered the home where it was reported that there was possibly a deceased infant and unconscious woman. *Id.* at 600. An ambulance arrived and took the woman, the infant, and the defendant to the hospital. *Id.* at 601. The responding officers did not take anything from the home. *Id.* 

Additional officers responded and were aware that the victims were no longer in the home. *Id*. Nontheless, they searched and took possession of inculpatory writings found in a bedroom. *Id*. at 601-602. The Court suppressed the evidence obtained by the second group of officers because the application of the emergency rule dissipated when they became aware that no one was present in the home. *Id*. at 606-607.

The same rationale should be applied to this case. Like the second group of officers in *Pires* being aware that the victims were no longer in the home, Officer Nettesheim was aware that EMS were on the scene attending to Ms. Noren and that they were getting ready to transport her to the hospital. (23:15,29; App. 118, 132). Although Ms. Noren was still in need of medical treatment, the emergency component of the situation had dissipated because she was receiving emergency medical care and the information about her having likely consumed heroin had already been provided to EMS. (23:10; App. 113). Therefore, just as the Court in *Pires* suppressed evidence found after the emergency dissipated, this court should also suppress the evidence found because entry into the bedroom was unnecessary to abate the emergency.

2. There was no immediate need to search the closed wardrobe and purse because police had already learned that the likely cause of Ms. Noren's condition was a heroin overdose.

Here, the circuit court found that the search of Ms. Noren's bedroom was justified because "a reasonable person would search in an area that would provide them a better answer as to why the person is blue in the face. (23:43; App. 146). However, the circuit court failed to consider the detailed information regarding the cause of Ms. Noren's unconsciousness, which was known to the officers prior to Officer Nettesheim's search of the bedroom.

"The objective component of the emergency rule requires that the officer 'point to specific facts that, taken with the rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warranted the intrusion into an area in which a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy." *State v. Rome*, 2000 WI App 243, ¶ 16, 239 Wis. 2d 491, 620 N.W.2d 225; *quoting Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d at 451. "The necessity of reasonable grounds to believe that an emergency existed must be applied to the circumstances then confronting the officer, including his or her need for a prompt evaluation of possibly ambiguous information concerning potentially serious consequences." *Id*.

In *Rome*, officers encountered a woman walking on the street, carrying a baby, at 2 a.m. in December. 239 Wis. 2d 491,  $\P$  2. The woman reported that her husband was intoxicated and had been yelling and threatening her during an argument over the children. *Rome*, 239 Wis. 2d 491,  $\P$  3. Officers informed the woman that they needed to go to the home, and she informed them that her husband was home and

that she was concerned for her two-year old daughter's safety. *Id*.

Officers entered the home and called out for the defendant, but received no response. Id. ¶ 4. The found the defendant asleep in a bedroom and placed him in handcuffs for safety. Id. ¶ 6. The officers noticed a light flickering in the closet and believed that the two-year old may be inside, but instead of a child, they found a marijuana plant. Id. ¶ 6.

The officers only knew that Rome was intoxicated and that the argument had been sufficient enough to drive his wife out of the house at 2 a.m. in December with an infant. Id. ¶ 17. The court determined that it was reasonable for the officers to believe that the child remaining in the home would be in danger, and therefore upheld the search of the closet on the basis that the emergency doctrine applied because it was reasonable to believe the child may be hiding in the closet due to the parents' loud argument. Id. ¶ 18.

Likewise, in *Boggess*, the Court upheld a warrantless entry into a home where the police and social services had received a report of children possibly being battered and having injuries. 115 Wis. 2d at 445-446. The court reasoned that the information confronting the officers would have led a reasonable person to conclude that an emergency existed and that entry into the home was necessary to render aid. *Id*. at 451-452.

The circumstances in *Boggess* and *Rome* are distinguishable from the present case. Here, there was no ambiguity with regards to the information the officers received. Unlike in *Boggess* and *Rome*, where officers were told that children might be in danger, and had to enter the home and search to first determine whether there was an emergency, a search was unnecessary in this case. Here, the

officers responded and were allowed entry into to the home for an identified medical emergency. From the time they arrived at the residence, officers knew that Ms. Noren was unconscious and that she had likely ingested heroin. (23:6; App. 109). In addition to informing officers as to the likely cause of Ms. Noren's unconsciousness, Mr. Harris explained why he believed that to be the case. (23:6; App. 109). Specifically, he told officers he knew she used heroin as he had seen her use it in the past, and that she had recently overdosed. (23:6; App. 109).

Moreover, Officer Nettesheim had had similar dealings with Ms. Noren a few weeks earlier. (23:16; App. 119). Therefore, he was familiar with her drug use and would have been able to identify her. Although Officer Nettesheim was aware that it is useful for EMS to know the likely cause of a person's medical condition, (23:24; App. 127), none of the officers searched prior to the arrival of EMS. (23:14; App. 117). Instead, Officer Nettesheim attended to Ms. Noren while Officer Spotz spoke with Mr. Harris. (23:4; App. 107). However, the officers did not need to search the bedroom because they were aware of the cause of Ms. Noren's condition and were able to relay that information to the EMS immediately. There is nothing in the record that indicates that EMS asked for any verification or that they indicated that it did not appear to be a heroin overdose and to look for other causes. Unlike Boggess and Rome, here there was no ambiguity that necessitated further search for the cause of Ms. Noren's condition.

The search of the wardrobe and purse, therefore, was not objectively necessary to render aid or assistance to Ms. Noren because a search would not have provided officers with more information that they already had, and medical personnel did not indicate that additional information about what Ms. Noren ingested was needed to provide her with medical assistance.

3. The search of the bedroom was unreasonable because it was outside the immediate area where officers found Ms. Noren.

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