RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

03-10-2016

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP1969-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SANDRA D. NOREN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID M. REDDY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

ANNE C. MURPHY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1031600

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-9224 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) murphyac@doj.state.wi.us

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED NOREN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH OF NOREN'S BEDROOM FOR THE CAUSE OF HER POTENTIAL OVERDOSE WAS JUSTIFIED UNDER THE COMMUNITY CARETAKER OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, UNDER THE EMERGENCY RULE EXCEPTION TO THE WARRANT REQUIREMENT.

A. Relevant law and standard of review.

Review of an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact which this court reviews under two different standards. A circuit court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *See State v. Hughes*, 2000 WI 24, 233 Wis. 2d 280, ¶ 15, 607 N.W.2d 621. This court then independently applies the law to those facts *de novo. Id.*

While both the state and federal constitutions express a preference for searches and seizures conducted pursuant to warrants, especially concerning searches inside private dwellings, exceptions to the warrant requirement have been well established in the law. *See generally State v. Milashoski*, 159 Wis. 2d 99, 111-12, 464 N.W.2d 21 (Ct. App. 1990), *aff'd* 163 Wis. 2d 72, 471 N.W.2d 42 (1991) (cataloguing exceptions).

One such exception recently discussed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *State v. Matalonis*, 2016 WI 7, ___ Wis. 2d ___, __ N.W.2d ___ is the "community caretaker exception." In *Matalonis*, the supreme court reversed the court of appeals' decision invalidating the search of a house and a locked room and found "that 'a police officer serving as a community caretaker to protect persons and property may be constitutionally permitted to perform warrantless searches and

seizures'" of a residence "if the search was conducted pursuant to a police officer's reasonable exercise of a bona fide community caretaker function." *Matalonis*, 2016 WI 7, ¶ 30 (quoting *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶¶ 14, 28-29, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592). The court must analyze the reasonableness of a residential search under the community caretaker doctrine using a three step test:

"(1) whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of the home."

Matalonis, 2016 WI 7, ¶ 31 (citing *Pinkard*, 327 Wis. 2d 346, ¶ 29).

In Matalonis, the supreme court clarified that the court must determine what the officers' knowledge about the situation was "at the time they conducted the search, not after." *Matalonis*, 2016 WI 7, ¶ 35. Under the circumstances, the court had "no difficulty concluding that the officers in this case were engaged in a bona fide community caretaker function at the time they searched the house and the locked room" where they responded to a medical call and found a "beaten, bloody and 'highly intoxicated' man, injured to an extent sufficient to justify an ambulance ride to the hospital," and based on their observations of further blood and loud noises from within, as well as inconsistent stories about the events, they feared that further injured persons were inside the home. *Id.* ¶¶ 36-38. Once inside the home, "the officers were not searching for evidence, but for injured parties." *Id.* ¶ 41. Therefore, they were performing their community caretaker function when they searched the home because "[t]he evidence in this case sufficiently provides an objectively reasonable basis for the police to believe an injured individual needed their help" *Id.* ¶¶ 43, 49.

Another related and well-recognized exception to the warrant requirement, which was relied on in the circuit court's decision denying Noren's motion to suppress, is the emergency doctrine (23:44). "[N]either the fourth amendment to the United States Constitution nor the Wisconsin Constitution bars a governmental official from making a warrantless intrusion into a home when the official reasonably believes that a person within is in need of immediate aid or assistance." *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 450, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983); *see also Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 392-93 (1978) ("[t]he need to protect or preserve life or avoid serious injury is justification for what would be otherwise illegal absent an exigency or emergency").

Wisconsin courts have cited with favor the following definition of the scope of the emergency doctrine:

"Law enforcement officials may enter private premises without either an arrest or a search warrant to preserve life or property, to render first aid and assistance, or to conduct a general inquiry into an unsolved crime, provided they have reasonable grounds to believe that there is an urgent need for such assistance and protective action, or to promptly launch a criminal investigation involving a substantial threat of imminent danger to either life, health, or property, and provided, further, that they do not enter with an accompanying intent to either arrest or search."

State v. Kraimer, 99 Wis. 2d 306, 314, 298 N.W.2d 568 (1980), cert. denied, 451 U.S. 973 (1981) (emphasis added) (quoting Moscolo, The Emergency Exception to the Warrant Requirement Under the Fourth Amendment, 22 Buff. L. Rev. 419, 426 (1972)); see also State v. Bauer, 127 Wis. 2d 401, 407-08, 379 N.W.2d 895 (Ct. App. 1985). The element of reasonableness with regard to the emergency doctrine "is supplied by the compelling need to render immediate assistance to the victim of a crime, or insure the safety of the occupants of a house when the police reasonably believe them to be in distress and in need of protection." Kraimer, 99 Wis. 2d at 315 (footnotes omitted).

In State v. Pires, 55 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 201 N.W.2d 153 (1972), the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognized that neither the Fourth Amendment nor the Wisconsin Constitution bars police officers from making warrantless entries and searches when they reasonably believe that a person is in distress and in need of immediate assistance. *Id.* at 604. The emergency doctrine applies where police conduct a search to ascertain the cause of a person's unconscious or semiconscious state in order to protect the person's health or to identify persons found in such a state. La Fournier v. State, 91 Wis. 2d 61, 71, 280 N.W.2d 746 (1979) (warrantless entry into home justified to assist victim of drug overdose). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that the emergency doctrine can, in the appropriate circumstances, apply to the search of a person's purse or wallet to assist in a medical emergency of a potential drug overdose. See State v. Prober, 98 Wis. 2d 345, 360-66, 297 N.W.2d 1 (1980), reversed in part by State v. Weide, 155 Wis. 2d 537, 455 N.W.2d 899 (1990) (overruling *Prober* not on medical emergency exception but on whether the search of a purse in an automobile was justified as an inventory search).

In *Prober*, the manager of a motel found the defendant unconscious on the bathroom floor and observed a "spoon and a plastic container with white powder in it" but, when the to call police, the defendant regained left consciousness and put the heroin and syringes into a purse in the trunk of his car. *Prober*, 98 Wis. 2d at 347. The police arrived and arrested the defendant for trespassing and noted he was incoherent at times and had needle marks on his arm. Id. The police conducted an "inventory search" of the defendant's car, and found the purse containing the heroin and syringes. Id. at 348-49. The circuit court denied the defendant's motion to suppress, and the court of appeals upheld the warrantless search under the emergency exception on the ground that a reasonable person "could believe that the defendant had overdosed on a drug, and might be in danger of losing his life" Id. at 350 (citing State v. Prober, 87 Wis. 2d 423, 435-36, 275

N.W.2d 123 (Ct. App. 1978)). The court of appeals further found that "the police officer had a right to open the purse in order to determine whether the defendant had injected something potentially fatal into his body." *Prober*, 87 Wis. 2d at 436.

In reversing the court of appeals, the supreme court found that unless the search was motivated by the need to act in the face of an emergency, the emergency doctrine exception does not apply and, because here the police officer testified that the reason for searching the purse was to inventory the contents of the car, the warrantless search of the purse was not covered by the emergency exception to the warrant requirement. Prober, 98 Wis. 2d at 366. The supreme court adopted a two-step analysis for determining when a warrantless search is justified under the emergency doctrine. Under this analysis, the exigency of the situation confronting the police is tested both objectively and subjectively. First, the searching officer must have been "motivated by a perceived need to render aid or assistance" and second, the court must also find that "a reasonable person under the circumstances would have thought an emergency existed." Prober, 98 Wis. 2d at 365. The subjective prong of this test "is a finding of fact," which will be upheld on review unless clearly erroneous. State v. York, 159 Wis. 2d 215, 220, 464 N.W.2d 36 (Ct. App. 1990). The objective prong is ultimately a question of law, subject to independent review. *Id.* at 221-22.

B. Officer Nettesheim was performing a community caretaker function when he searched Noren's bedroom for the cause of her potential overdose and therefore, the search was valid.

In its decision denying the suppression motion, the circuit court did not rely on the community caretaker exception because it determined that "one of the factors in a community caretaker is whether an automobile is involved" (23:36).

However, under the supreme court's February 2016 decision in *Matalonis*, the community caretaker exception clearly applies to the search of a private area in a residence when the police are acting in a "bona fide community caretaker function" and if "the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised within the context of a home" *Matalonis*, 2016 WI 7, ¶ 31.

In this case, the officers entered Noren's residence with consent (23:13), so the issue is not whether they had consent to enter the home but whether an exception to the warrant requirement allowed Officer Nettesheim to search her bedroom cabinet and purse. Here, as in Matalonis, where the court found that the police were performing their community caretaker function when they searched the home and locked room because "[t]he evidence in this case sufficiently provides an objectively reasonable basis for the police to believe an injured individual needed their help" id. ¶ 49, the continued search of Noren's home into her bedroom by Officer Nettesheim had an objectively reasonable basis: to help determine the cause of Noren's apparent overdose. Officer Nettesheim testified that his "sole motivation" when he conducted the search was "[t]o find out why she was overdosing, to relay it to EMS, so she could get better" (23:18). Like in Matalonis, where the officers conducting the search were looking for other potentially injured individuals, and not for evidence of a crime, here Officer Nettesheim was clearly not looking for evidence of a crime but instead had the sole motivation of looking for the cause of Noren being unconscious in order to provide assistance to her.

Further, the public interest in assisting Noren by finding out the cause of her apparent overdose, in order to relay this information to EMS to further assist her and try to save her life, far outweighs any intrusion on her privacy by entering her bedroom to search for the possible source of her dire condition.

Because Officer Nettesheim was acting in a bona fide community caretaker capacity and the public interest in assisting Noren outweighs her privacy interests, the search of her bedroom was valid under the community caretaker exception to the warrant requirement.

C. Alternatively, the circuit court correctly denied Noren's motion to suppress because Officer Nettesheim's search of Noren's bedroom and inside her purse was justified under the emergency exception to the warrant requirement.

For similar reasons as the community caretaker exception, the circuit court denied Noren's motion to suppress the evidence found in her bedroom and her purse under the medical emergency exception to the requirement for a search warrant. In *Prober*, the supreme court found that this doctrine applies

in situations where police conduct searches to ascertain the cause of a person's unconscious or semiconscious state in order to protect the person's health or to identify persons found in such a state. The court of appeals similarly held that, in the medical emergency situation presented, "the police officer had a right to open the purse in order to determine whether the defendant had injected something potentially fatal into his body." *State v. Prober*, 87 Wis. 2d at 436, 275 N.W. 2d at 128.

Prober, 98 Wis. 2d at 360-61.

In this case, in its oral decision denying Noren's motion to suppress, the circuit court found that the analysis in *Prober* is "directly on point to this case," because it applies to "[o]pening a purse" (23:38). Therefore, the circuit court applied *Prober's* two-part analysis, first addressing the subjective test – whether the search was actually motivated by Officer Nettesheim's perceived need to render aid or assistance – finding that the subjective test was met, which was not disputed by Noren

(23:38). The circuit court found that the testimony of Officer Spotz and Nettesheim "was credible," and that the testimony established their subjective intent: "the reason for the search particularly of Officer Nettesheim, who conducted the search for the reason for the possible overdose was motivated by the need or perceived need to render aid or assistance to the defendant in this case" (23:38-39).

With respect to the second prong – whether a reasonable person under the circumstances would have thought an emergency existed - the circuit court rejected Noren's argument that a reasonable person would not believe that an emergency existed because "they already know that this may be a heroin overdose" and once "EMS arrives and is providing care to the person that needs the care, there's no longer an emergency" because "all you're going to do is find out things that were not consumed" (23:39-40). The circuit court found that "the flaw in [Noren's] argument is that you have to assume that overdosing people consume everything that is available to them, and I don't believe that's the case. In fact, in this situation, there was testimony that Ms. Noren had previously overdosed on pills, and there were pills strewn about her. So I think that's probably more of the normal circumstance than what you're attempting to argue" (23:42-43). Therefore, the circuit court found that a reasonable person would search the area including the bedroom and in a purse where the source of the potential overdose was likely to be found, in order to assist EMS in finding out why Noren was "blue faced, lying on the kitchen floor" (23:43).

The court continued:

There was also testimony from Officer Nettesheim that he has told EMS in the past about what drugs he's found and has been told by both EMS and medical staff that that's been helpful. Specifically in this case, he actually showed the pills to the EMS. I think it's reasonable to believe that EMS would want that information, medical personnel would want that

information, and that it's reasonable to believe that the – there are additional drugs present which were consumed by the person who was overdosing.

I believe the scope in this case was limited to the emergency. Officer Nettesheim said he did a search of the bed, the nightstand, and the wardrobe. It wasn't like he was looking in . . . any other area of the house. . . . It's reasonable to believe that that's where drugs would be kept, it would be in a person's bedroom I believe. I believe that – therefore . . . the search was justified under the emergency doctrine, and the police did what was necessary to try to abate that emergency. For those reasons, I'll deny the motion.

(23:43-44).

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